



or

THE SCIENCE OF SUCCEEDING

IN YOUR PURPOSES

by

The Seven Builders of the Universe

KNOWN AS THE SEVEN ELOHIM





# PRECIPITATION

or

THE SCIENCE OF SUCCEEDING
IN YOUR PURPOSES

by

The Seven Builders of the Universe

KNOWN AS THE SEVEN ELOHIM

Compiled and Edited by

THOMAS PRINTZ (El Morya)

# WITH AN APPENDIX

Containing

- (a) A description of the Temple of Precipitation
- (b) The Law of Precipitation Revealed
- (c) Correspondences and a Glossary

THE BRIDGE TO FREEDOM, INC. Kings Park, New York 11754, U.S.A.

All Rights Reserved
by The Bridge to Freedom, Inc.

Third Edition 1973©



The Holy Grail from which All who are athirst may drink.

Contents	page
Dedication, by El Morya	. 5
Preface, by Thomas Printz	. 9
Chapter I	
The First Builder: Hercules (Decision)	. 13
Chapter II	
The Second Builder: Cassiopeia (Perception)	. 15
Chapter III	
The Third Builder: Orion (Cohesion)	. 17
Chapter IV	
The Fourth Builder: Purity (Claire)	
(Immaculate Concept)	. 20
$\operatorname{Chapter} \mathbf{V}$	
The Fifth Builder: Vista (Cyclopea)	
(Concentration)	. 23
Chapter VI	
The Seventh Builder: Arcturus (Invocation)	. 26
Chapter VII	
The Sixth Builder: Peace (Tranquility)	
(Ministration)	. 30
Appendix	
Appendix	. 35
Chapter VIII	
Description of the Temple of Precipitation	
at Rocky Mountains, Wyoming, USA	. 37
Chapter IX	
The Law of Precipitation Revealed, by	
Paul, The Venetian -now - The Maha Choha	n 40
Chapter X	
Two Tables of Correspondences	
and a Glossary	. 45
List of "Bridge" Publications	. 48
NOTE: In the process of precipitation, the Seventh Builde vocation) acts before the Sixth Builder (Ministration). This is the order of the Builders appears altered in above chapters.	r (In- s why

# DEDICATION

This book is lovingly dedicated to the Seven Mighty Elohim of Creation, Whose cooperative endeavors created the planet Earth, as well as all the planets of this Solar System. Our book is also dedicated to those spiritually-minded men and women who desire to learn the Science of Precipitation and Etherealization from the Elohim Themselves; to those who will use the knowledge so attained to build and re-create upon this Earth the glorious Kingdom of Heaven which was here in the beginning and which shall now be the Permanent Golden Age for this planet and all Its evolutions.

One of the great requirements of the lifestreams evolving upon the Earth today is to raise them out of human limitations, which mankind have drawn upon themselves by the forgetfulness of their Source, Its Divine Plan of perfection for them and how to fulfill that Plan.

The only way permanently to raise any lifestream out of limitation of any kind is to teach him how to transmute his "old" causes of distress by the use of the Violet Fire and then set into action new causes (mostly invisible) which will create new effects for him in this physical appearance world, expressing as opulence, peace, good health, wisdom—on and on—ad infinitum.

No type of subsidy and no means of security is ever permanent until it flows forth from the consciousness of the individual himself; because the gifts from any other members of the race are the *effects* of the benefactor's consciousness and, thus, only temporarily loaned to the beneficiary.

So, to enrich the consciousness of the individual until he becomes Master of his own energy within himself and learns to create causes which will manifest as these constructive effects, the Elohim graciously have chosen to present to mankind the Science—the way and means—by which They achieved the manifestation of our Solar System.

Call to these Great Elohim in all the since rity of your hearts! Daily invoke Their light and understanding to come into your own consciousness! Then practice the Science of Precipitation and Etherealization as set forth in the following pages, omitting no one of the Seven Steps, and prove to yourself that man is the Master of his own fate, as well as the Captain of his own soul.

Throughout the ages, many individuals have learned a part of the Science of Precipitation but, through selfish and impure motives, the use of their powers has not been permanent and the soul itself has suffered much by the use of this partially developed talent for selfish gain.

Those who want to use this Power of Precipitation for the enrichment and illumination of the entire human race will be blessed indeed and their supply of money and every good thing will constantly increase as they use the knowledge they have gained. This will give them complete freedom from dependence upon others of their fellowmen for the supply of the good things in life.

Then comes the most subtle part of this whole activity—how will such increased supply and perfection be used? Remember Me in that day!

Unto mankind We now humbly offer the words of the Elohim Who created the planet Earth—giving Their knowledge as to how They accomplished this great manifestation of perfection; also presenting a way and means by which mankind can become spiritual partners with Them to manifest greater glory on the Earth for themselves and all the evolutions using the Earth as their "schoolroom" at this time!

Lovingly, hopefully, sincerely— El Morya



# **PREFACE**

There exist many different strata of consciousness into which mankind "tunes" the mind. For instance, kindergarten children are all more or less interested in the activities presented to them by their teachers, parents, guardians and associates. In like manner, patriots tend to "tune in" to the consciousness of all patriotic inclinations—contemporary, as well as those which have achieved certain perfections of government in the past; scholars "tune in" to the consciousness of all teachers, past and present; people with humanitarian interests are brought together by their likeness of endeavor; architects, scientists, ministers, spiritual pioneers,—all are drawn by the magnetism of common interest to the strata where others, thinking and working along similar lines of constructive activity, draw their inspiration and impetus toward accomplishment.

This is equally true with regard to the Higher Realms of Light which are defined in various ways, according to the spiritual, religious, racial and personal development of the individual and collective groups seeking Truth.

Each lifestream's consciousness is like a cup and the vibrations which enter into his consciousness will have an affinity to the vibrations of his own world. Therefore, the finer and more spiritual the consciousness of the receiver, the more perfect the reception of Truth into that consciousness where it is either developed and given forth for the blessings of mankind or it remains a dream or vision unfulfilled.

There are certain lifestreams in embodiment upon the planet Earth today who have been prepared over a period of many, many embodiments to receive into their conscious-

ness the higher vibrations, instructions and guidance from Celestial Beings; then such lifestreams present to their fellowman the Truths given to them by Superior Beings for the blessing of all. Some do this through music, through art, through writing, through lecturing and the various media afforded them (by circumstance and cooperation of others so interested in a similar endeavor), thus choosing to be pioneers into the "spiritually unknown."

This is as mechanical as the radio or television—except for the factor of the personality of the "receiver"—which factor, of course, does not exist in the radio or television.

For many ages, during various physical embodiments, such individuals have been able to contact these Divine Beings through the upreaching of their consciousness... and the Truths thus revealed and presented through the various media aforementioned are the result of such endeavor.

The Seven Elohim Who volunteered to cooperate with the Sun God and Goddess of Our System (Beloved Helios and Vesta) have so used such an individual to direct Their instructions to the mankind of Earth who wish to benefit by the knowledge of how to use the Science of Precipitation and Etherealization which the Elohim used in the creation of this Planetary System. This book is the result of such spiritual research and the consciousness of the reader will truly determine how much or how little of the light of the Elohim he can and will accept at this time.

For reasons of eliminating personality, the "receiver" of

this instruction has been asked to remain anonymous . . . for it is the gift, rather than the channel through which it flows that will be of blessing to the people of Earth. As soon as a personality is placed, like a shadow, between the instruction and the instructors, there is always the tendency on the part of the student to judge the instruction by the habits and nature of the personality. Man does not ask the source from whence water flows; nor from whence Springtime comes; nor from whence comes the harvest which he gleans. He just enjoys the gift! So let it be now! Accept and use the gift here given—enjoying the fruits thereof!

Thomas Printz.

# Chapter I

# The First Builder: Hercules (Decision)

#### BELOVED ELOHIM HERCULES speaks:

"In the Name of God, I bring you the FIRE of Hercules!

"I AM" the Elohim Who embodies the WILL TO DO! "I AM" the Elohim of DECISION—and God spare Me the vacillating man! Everything that has ever been accomplished on the plane of Earth or in the plane of Heaven has been accomplished by men and women of Decision; by Angels, Elementals and Devas of Decision; by Beings Who have voluntarily chosen to combine the energies of Their lives with the WILL TO DO! Without that WILL TO DO. there is no permanence of accomplishment.

Are you content with what you are; what you manifest today? Are you content with half a loaf when you could have a full one? Are you content to live in limitation and bodies of decay? It is what you WILL that you manifest!

"Beloved ones, We have come to a point where you who are the builders of the New Age must enter into the science of creation. The slip-shod happenstance; the hopeful, faithful consciousness taking the bitter with the better is not enough! Such consciousness must be succeeded by a scientific process of creation through your individual mental and feeling worlds by which you become and remain Master! Then you channel for Us into the world of form, those ideas and patterns which will create the nucleus of the Permanent Golden Age.





Through whom shall this Age come but yourselves? You are the open door!

Beloved ones, if you were to concentrate upon the Law as We give it, you could come from a consciousness of limitation into one of complete freedom very quickly. It all depends upon how much you WILL TO BE; YOU WILL TO DO and YOU WILL TO BECOME!

It was the WILL in the hearts of Joshua and His followers which brought down the Walls of Jericho as they marched around them. It was the WILL in the heart of Jesus Christ which enabled Him to walk that road to Calvary; which burst the tomb asunder and which enabled Him to ascend into the fullness of His perfection (His Ascension) in the presence of some five hundred people. It was the WILL of the early patriots which brought forth America as a Land of Freedom.

That which man WILLS—he shall have; for the WILL is the magnetic power of the Godhead in the heart which does invoke and bring to man that which he desires.

He who says in the calm dignity and mastery of his own heart: 'I WILL to be God free'; he who holds his chin up, straightens his spine and proceeds along life's way refusing dissolution, refusing poverty, limitations and chains—such a one is Hercules embodied!

How long has man said with lips alone: 'Thy Kingdom come; Thy will be done on Earth as it is in Heaven'? One Man meant it—and for Him it was!

I FIRE you today with the realization that what you WILL to be, YOU WILL BE! What you WILL to manifest, must come, for it is Law!"

# The Second Builder: Cassiopeia (Perception)

# BELOVED ELOHIM CASSIOPEIA speaks:

"I AM" Cassiopeia—Elohim of PERCEPTION and WISDOM; Elohim of the concentrated power of attention, without which the mind could conceive and know nothing, here or hereafter!

The power of your attention, beloved ones, is the open door to your mind and your entire consciousness.

The planet Earth is presently in a state of Cosmic incubation and the beams of intelligent energy (which you call Cosmic Light), are really light substance consciously directed to the Earth by the attention of Cosmic Beings upon Her.

One of these beams is the golden Flame of Divine IL-LUMINATION from the hearts of certain Hierarchy which has been directed to this Earth for some time.

We have loved and watched over you for so long! Our attention has been upon you for a much longer period of time than your attention has been on Us!

Now We come to the great Cosmic Hour where your attention is drawn to various Members of the Hierarchy, according to a perfectly designed Plan, for without your attention upon Us, there is little We could do for you.

God bless you for your continued attention upon Us through the years—forming a magnet which has drawn Us into this atmosphere today! God bless you for your attention upon the power of God—which attention draws more

and more of that power into the lower atmosphere of Earth, blessing all life!

Your mental body receives through your attention, and through all the activities of the senses everything your attention connects with—good or otherwise—draws back into the mental body a picture and form into your mind. If it be discord, whether you see it, hear it, feel it or whether you draw it in through any of the activities of the sense consciousness, that discord enters the mental body and adds to the accumulation which is there! The mental bodies of mankind are like an old warehouse in which has been stored the furniture and accumulations of the ages. They are full of cobwebs and discordant human concepts; as well as much that is petrified and some which is in the process of disintegration!

In the course of an average life, mankind accepts 'hit or miss' from the atmosphere; from the current religion of the day; from the educational system of the time; from the parents to whom he is born; from the race to which he belongs; from the history which he reads, certain pictures which add to this conglomerate mass in the mental body.

Through the qualification by the consciousness and experiences of each lifetime, the energies of each successive embodiment keep pushing backward into past accumulations of the mental body, which consist of all that has been previously recorded. Through this conglomerate mass We endeavor to drive perhaps just one grain of Truth! Into this, from time to time, We endeavor to plant, perhaps, just one seed and hope it will be nourished and grow. Please LET GO! LET GO! LET GO! of your human concepts of the ages! The Science of Creation is in your hands and hearts. I thank you."

### Chapter III

# The Third Builder: Orion (Cohesion)

### BELOVED ELOHIM ORION speaks:

"I AM" Orion, Elohim of LOVE—that Divine LOVE which has caused to come into being every Sun and Galaxy in the Universe; every Star and every Planet; every form—from the the Great Solar Galaxy to the tiniest Elemental and atom belonging to this planet.

Divine LOVE is a positive and not a negative quality. I come into the atmosphere of Earth on wings of Divine LOVE, bringing with Me the concentrated Flame of that LOVE. This Flame has been the magnetic cohesive power which drew into being the Earth upon which your feet stand, the very physical bodies in which you presently function and every other manifestation which appears here. Every form which you enjoy is a part of My Being, held together by the Flame of My LOVE; for, if Divine LOVE (which is CO-HESION) were to cease to be, all in the Universe would return to the unformed and become again part of primal life.

Man knows not what he carries around with him, buried deeply within that Realm which Science calls the 'subconscious' mind; that Realm in which there are atrophied the memories of every experience in every embodiment from the first day the lifestream 'fell from Grace' up to the present moment.

Sometimes, Those from the God-free Realms Who guard and govern the destinies of World Movements almost shudder when They look upon the ever-weakening scar-tissue which the glorious Builders of Form seek to weave over those hurts and distresses in the etheric body. However, in order to fulfill Itself, the Divine Plan brings together again and again certain lifestreams, each one of whom carries these memories of past enmittees between them; the Divine Plan presenting over and over again new opportunities to 'make things right.'

Sometimes the very proximity of these individuals to each other (even in Divine service) will cause provocations to arise which are similar to those which made the original wounds. Then these wounds are likely to burst open once more, tearing asunder the etheric body. This releases again into action those feelings of rebellion and buried hates from the past which originally destroyed the comradeship and affinity of these lifestreams for each other and weakens those ties which should 'bind their hearts in wondrous LOVE.'

You know, there was no such thing as disease, decay, disintegration or fermentation before mankind lost their feelings of harmony. Rust, mold—everything that is unpleasant even in the Nature Kingdom—has appeared because the quality of the Elohim of PEACE ('Tranquility') is not manifest in the form which has been created. Look at the magnificent homes, Temples and cities which have come forth in the past from the minds and energies of man; creations which have crumbled into decay today. Whole continents have sunk from sight beneath the waves of the sea, all because the final activites, Peace and Harmony, were not sustained.

It was LOVE which spurred Moses on to draw the reluctant people of Israel away from the flesh-pots of Egypt, in an endeavor to find their 'Promised Land.'

In Galilee, it was LOVE that enabled a young Man (with a body of such perfection as has not been known since on the Earth-plane and filled with a LOVE of Springtime) to willingly lay that body upon a cross, submitting to the Crucifixion.

WITHOUT LOVE, NOTHING IS PERMANENTLY ACCOMPLISHED; without it the clearest vision remains but a cloudy vapor!

LOVE IS CONSTANCY UNDER THE MOST TRY-ING OF CIRCUMSTANCES AND ACTION AT THE MOMENT WHEN IT IS REQUIRED MOST.

Whenever you wish to use and expand the activities of DIVINE LOVE—whose qualities are Adoration, Magnetization and Gratitude to Life—"I AM" your Servant! Thank you and good morning!"

# Chapter IV

# The Fourth Builder: Purity ("Claire")

(Immaculate Concept)

# BELOVED ELOHIM OF PURITY speaks:

"I AM" the Elohim of PURITY! "I AM" the Guardian of the Immaculate Concept for this sweet planet Earth, as well as for this entire Universe. "I AM" also the Guardian of the Immaculate Concept of your own individualized Divinity, which is fashioned from White Fire substance and lives in the God-free Realms. This is your Pattern of Perfection originally created by the Godhead and THAT Being, in all Its perfection, YOU MUST ONE DAY BECOME. "I AM" more than this. "I AM" the Flame of Cosmic Christ PURITY—the NATURAL ACTIVITY of your own life; not something that must be wooed; not something that must be drawn from without.

Beloved ones let us consider electronic light for a moment. If you could stop one electron as it passes through the Universe, or stop it for a moment as it passes from the heart of your Presence into your physical heart, you would see that that electron contained within itself all of the nature of the Godhead; all of Its powers; all of Its majesty and ALL OF THE DIVINITY WHICH IS WITHIN THE GOD-PARENT! THE ELECTRON ITSELF CAN NEVER BE CONTAMINATED, for My Flame of Cosmic Christ PURITY lives within every one of them. In the

course of a single second, millions and millions and millions of these tiny electrons are literally bombarded from the heart of the Universal First Cause through your God Presence into your physical heart—then out into your world.

Beloved friends, as the Great Ones have told you many times, THE ACTION OF THIS LAW IS MECHANICAL. It is absolutely and positively a science of vibration. The speed with which the electrons revolve around the central core of each atom in your mind (mental body) is determined by the thoughts you entertain. When those thoughts are of perfection and on expansion of God's good to His Universe, the vibratory action of the electrons in your mental body is rapid and they deflect the mass thought-forms of destruction which float in the atmosphere of Earth.

The planet Earth now has fallen far below Its original Divine Design and Pattern which I still guard at Inner Levels AND WHICH SHALL YET BE RE-ESTABLISH-ED FOR THE EARTH. Therefore it brings great happiness and joy to know that somewhere on this planet Earth are those who wish to see made manifest the Immaculate Concept for themselves, their fellowman and the planet as well; those who wish to rejoice with the God of all Creation in the perfection of that Divine Design made manifest again.

Beloved ones, PURITY is a matter of FEELING; of CONSCIOUSNESS; of RADIATION! In days to come, when the atmosphere of Earth and of mankind themselves is much more purified than it is today, the 'human veil' will

have been lifted and everyone will be able to see the causes behind spoken words and actions. THEN THERE WILL BE REVEALED THOSE WHO ARE PURE AND THOSE WHO ARE NOT! Let not self-righteousness, scorn or vows of celibacy fool the man or woman who desires to be PURE IN HEART.

I shall watch now and endeavor to help you to hold that light which has been drawn forth about you and help you sustain it.

Good morning to you and God-blessings from My heart!"

### Chapter V

# The Fifth Builder: Vista ("Cyclopea") (Concentration)

#### BELOVED VISTA speaks:

"I AM" Vista, the All-Seeing-Eye of the Eternal God! I have come this day from the Great Central Sun (the Sun behind the Sun, as It is sometimes called ) as a Cosmic Messenger, rendering the great service which is performed each Christmas Season when the highways between the Galaxies are opened and the Great Golden Doors which separate the Solar Systems are swung ajar. Then, great Beings Who are naturally held by the cohesion of Divine Love within the orbits of certain planets are given freedom to travel between planets and Systems; thus enjoying the glory of Cosmic friendship in Universal service. May I explain to you just a little of what this means in relation to your rather limited knowledge of Science?

The gravity pull of Earth which holds the physical forms of your evolution upon the planet during the course of embodiment—also, through magnetic attraction—holds those unascended lifestreams who particularly belong to the Earth's evolutions, even though not in embodiment at this time. These latter abide in the atmosphere of your Earth at different levels of consciousness. These 'levels' are sometimes referred to as the 'Inner Realms.'

Similarly, there is a like power of cohesion which holds within the compass of each Solar System those Intelligences, even God-free, Who are rendering service to the Evolutionary Scheme. The Cosmic currents which surge like great tides through the Galaxies so far beyond the comprehension of your finite minds, are very powerful; so much so that even Intelligences of great light might be swept out into another course from which They began, were they to proceed against the cohesive power which is the governing order of the Galaxy, the Solar System or the Planetary Scheme.

At the time of Christ-mass there is a great Cosmic Dispensation granted and the King's 'Highway,' we might say, is opened from the Central Sun to every Sun beneath It in this Galaxy, as well as to Their planets. These experiences are the gift of the Cosmic Christ to those Intelligences Who serve.

Not lightly do the Archangels break the silence of the ages and enable you to give on the written page (as your gift to your fellowman) Their words and some little description of Their activities! Not lightly come the Elohim from the Heart of Celestial Heaven into the atmosphere of Earth, explaining to finite minds the orderly procession of precipitation in creation!

WHAT CAN BE ACCOMPLISHED on Earth, even in mundane activities of your daily living, WITHOUT CONCENTRATION—from the smallest task of learning a recipe for your kitchen fare to the greatest dexterity of

technique which produces lovely music; to the greatest development of science; to the magnificence of the educator, preacher and statesman? If there is not CONCENTRATION, there is only mediocrity; only the bare surface is scratched.

How many of you have decided upon some pattern to manifest—have begin to build it—and have already abandoned your project? Those patterns are floating in your Forcefield and if you do not reclaim them, your pattern may be picked up by some magnetic lifestream in the outer world and THAT OTHER INDIVIDUAL THEN WILL BE THE BENEFICIARY OF ALL YOUR WORK!

As some of you know, "I AM" also the Elohim of Music, so My activities and talents are quite diversified.

WEARY NOT IN WELL DOING! PERSEVERE! When your manifestations seem to lag, think of Me and say: If Vista had not perservered, my feet would not be standing on the Earth today—nor could I look at the blue sky. There would be no America and no focus on Earth for the Freedom Flame. Vista had no more with which to work than I have—He had only light, CONSECRATION of purpose and CONCENTRATION of ENERGY TO FOLLOW THROUGH, FOLLOW THROUGH, FOLLOW THROUGH, FOLLOW THROUGH, FOLLOW THROUGH, I thank you."

### Chapter VI (1)

# The Seventh Builder: Arcturus (Invocation) (Invocation)

### BELOVED ARCTURUS speaks:

"I AM" the Elohim of INVOCATION and RHYTHM Who brings to you and all life—through the use of Violet Fire—Infinite FREEDOM, when you desire it enough!

From interstellar space, through all the planets belonging to this system, "I AM" constantly looking for those lifestreams who desire FREEDOM—FREEDOM from illness, limitation and distress of every kind! Where will you find that FREEDOM! Right within your own life! In the beginning of your individualization, God created your Divine Self-conscious Intelligence — your own individualized "I AM," a White Fire Being from the Universal First Cause, with the capacity to draw forth from life every God-gift you might ever require to be able to manifest perfection. In the great Scheme of things, "I AM" He Who answers the call of the heart-beat of any individual when that heart, deeply and sincerely from within itself, desires to release life which has become bound: giving it FREEDOM from disease, from lack, from fear and limitation of every kind and description. Within that life itself is the fullness of Almighty God!

Life (which is light-essence) quiescent, contains within Itself all the power of the Universal First Cause which created the System, the Galaxy and the entire Universe to

(1) In the process of precipitation, the Seventh Builder (Invocation) acts before the Sixth Builder (Ministration).

which you belong. This same life (light) flows from the heart of the Great Central Sun through your own White Fire Being; then through your "I AM" Presence into and through your physical heart, animating your world. Within that light, beloved ones, is anything that you require! From that same light We created the planet on which you presently abide; as well as all the planets of this System. From that light do Helios and Vesta give to you the radiation of the Sun in the Heavens. From that same life has the Beloved Jesus given you miracles, marvels and mastery which mankind recognizes with more than ordinary feeling of gratitude at the Christmas season.

Today, I urge you with all the intensity and pressure of My Being to develop the qualities of perfection which are within it. Wherever there is one lifestream who sincerely desires FREEDOM and in constant RHYTHM INVOKES AND COMMANDS IT, there I shall be to give that one assistance until that FREEDOM is physically manifest. You, in turn, may give this gift to mankind. The radiation, power and powers of the Seven Elohim and the constant application of the Seven Steps to Precipitation (if rhythmically and conscientiously called forth) will bring the lifestreams on this planet to mastery in the Power of Precipitation.

If you will observe Nature, you will easily recognize the absolute RHYTHM by which all creation takes place; the rising and setting of the Sun; the incoming and outgoing of the tides; the recurrent seasons—all in an absolute and perfect RHYTHM.

In the early Golden Ages, when the Archangels and the Ascended Masters just naturally walked and talked with un-

ascended mankind, the magnificent perfection which was drawn forth by the power of INVOCATION was brought about because of the understanding of the necessity for RHYTHM OF INVOCATION and application. This constancy of the release of perfection called forth from the Godhead made it possible for the atmosphere of Earth to be kept completely free from disease, disintegration and all manner of human shadow. RHYTHM is pretty thoroughly well forgotten! The science of constancy of prayer and application is seldom seen. When once the RHYTHM has been established, stay within your pattern until the energy required flows into it, in RHYTHMIC release!

"I AM" primarily stationed, spiritually speaking, at the apex of the Seventh Ray—drawing forth and directing the Violet Ray and Flame to every consciousness which requires purification and sublimation (refining by sacred fire). Its main purpose and use on this planet is to purify energy which has been discordantly qualified through the use of the free-will of self conscious intelligences. Much more will be learned about the Violet Ray and Flame by the people of Earth in the near future.

The Violet Ray and Flame are activities of the Sacred Fire. They are energy specifically qualified by Divine Beings to act in the world and experience of any and all who will accept and use Them to purify and return to its original perfection, the energy which is now imprisoned here in discordant mis-creations of the past. The Violet Flame has been feared by mankind because the mis-qualified energy which surrounds them does not like the thought of purification or change.

The present Chohan of the Seventh Ray (the Ascended Master Saint Germain) is the Representative of this Violet

Ray and Flame to the Earth for the present Cosmic Cycle of 2000 years. When He can secure the *full acceptance* in the *feelings* of students of the reality and efficacy of Its use, the Earth's redemption will be greatly accelerated.

To use this Flame, visualize the clearest, most beautiful, brilliant shade of violet you can. See, as well as feel It, blazing up, in, through and around you. To intensify the power of this Flame through your world, picture It deeper and deeper in color until you have a brilliant deep purple Flame. Its faithful use will bring you peace. Rejoice in the mercy of Its presence and Its willingness to set you free. Let go of your distresses, known and unknown and see just what the Violet Flame can and will do for you! I CHALLENGE YOU! USE IT! WE SHALL HELP YOU!

Thank you and good morning!"

# Chapter VII

# The Sixth Builder: Peace ("Tranquility") (Ministration)

# BELOVED ELOHIM OF PEACE speaks:

Beloved children of the One Living God! I come to you to bring the description of the activities of My Ray (Sixth Ray) — MINISTRATION and PEACE. This now completes the instruction of the Seven Mighty Elohim of Creation on Their Seven-fold Flame in this series of Addresses. "The Seven Steps to Precipitation" are the unalterable process of all God-creation—finite and Infinite.

I come into Earth's atmosphere in answer to the calls of your precious hearts, and on the energies of your own life I shall write the words which complete the pattern of CONSCIOUS PRECIPITATION, by which We created the Universe under the direction of Helios and Vesta. A part of this Creative Scheme which We brought forth into manifestation at that time was your own sweet Earth, which is now the platform beneath your feet and has provided for you and your fellowman a 'schoolroom' to which you voluntarily chose to come to learn conscious control and mastery of energy.

What We have done on a Universal scale by the use of these seven progressive 'steps' in consciousness, EACH AND EVERY ONE OF YOU CAN AND ONE DAY MUST USE to draw forth direct from the Universal those gifts of light's perfection which are the Will of God for you to enjoy and be able to give your fellowman. This is because THE

ABILITY TO PRECIPITATE IS A NATURAL ATTRIBUTE AND POWER OF YOUR OWN "I AM" PRESENCE—your Father-Mother God—the Source of your being and the creative Heart-Center of your present consciousness.

Your "I AM" Presence first became conscious of Itself as a living, breathing Being, when It was first directed out of the Universal First Cause. When that Presence found Itself to be an Individualization of God-consciousness, It then chose to draw to Itself the substance of primal light (life) and qualified it with the God-ideas of Its Own personal consciousness. This qualified light was then sent forth by It to create and expand the beauty, glory and ecstasy of creation.

Since the very nature of God-Light—is to expand perfection, that "I AM" consciousness then determined within Itself to leave for a time the Heart-center of the atmosphere of Its Creator and explore the Seven Spheres of Consciousness which surround Its Godhead—the Sun from whence It came. It remained for as long as It chose in each sphere, to learn to use the specific powers of creation in each of these Realms. In this way, the "I AM" Presence drew into Its Own Causal Body the seven different momentums of qualified energy which appear as the seven colors around the Upper Figure on Your Chart (Holy Trinity Picture).

As the "I AM" consciousness gradually proceeded from Sphere to Sphere, It finally chose the activities of one of those Spheres which most appealed to Its liking and It there decided to develop some specific expression of God-power along one of the Seven Rays which would be Its gift to the Universe.

# Creative Experimentation Begins

After this Individualization of your own lifestream had passed through all the Seven Spheres of creative consciousness (the Causal Body of the Godhead) those Who decided to try embodiment upon the planet Earth then applied for such permission to the Manu of the First Root Race (the Cosmic Being Who was in charge of the evolutions here at that time). Thus in the denser substance of the Earth-plane, that Presence learned to wield the powers of thought, feeling, spoken word and action and consciously create as the Father does. 'Hitherto hath the Father worked; NOW THE FATHER AND I WORK'!

Beloved ones, the Ascended Masters are most conservative in Their use of life. There is a great Divine Economy of the Cosmic Law which most generously provides the limitless abundance of every good thing for all to use as freely as the air they breathe, yet does not permit the wasting of a single electron; nor the sustaining of a single electron in any form which has served its intended purpose!

Then, as Beloved Arcturus said in His Address, when the form is no longer desired, the directed Light Rays of Violet Fire from Their hearts, throats and foreheads enter into the center of that manifested form, releasing the cohesive power from within that precipitation. Then that elemental life, no longer feeling the cohesive 'pull' of that love and command of the Immortal Flame within the form, begins to disintegrate it and automatically returns it to the Sun from whence it came, for re-polarization. Sometimes this etherealization is *instantly* done, in what would seem to be like a Cosmic 'explosion'; sometimes it is done slowly and gradually just as the petals fall from a flower and its

These powers of Precipitation and Etherealization are now available to you for your joyous, individual use and you are now at a place on the Spiritual Path where you should be using them. You can, most assuredly, if you will definitely determine to follow through the concise 'steps' which have been given you in Our Addresses—FOR THESE 'STEPS' ARE ABSOLUTELY MATHEMATICAL IN THEIR PRECISION!

Here let Me warn you—those of you who wish to practice the Power of Precipitation—that it is most important for you to remain absolutely silent concerning what you are about! Seal your lips against giving even an intimation through the spoken word as to what you are doing for, believe Me, you have no idea of the violence of feeling which will be driven at you from those who are covetous of your light's greater development. Their own feelings of insecurity would make them act thus toward you.

When the original creation of this planet was finally manifest; when the activities of the RYHTHM of Arcturus had drawn the final invocation of energy necessary for the completion of this planet; when the Seven-fold Flame of the Elohim had done Its perfect work; when the planet Earth began to revolve upon Its axis and began to release Its melodious keynote to enhance the Music of the Spheres—it was a beautiful sight and sound indeed! At that time, the PEACE which surpasses the understanding of the human mind abided in the atmosphere of the planet. However, when those 'laggard' souls came here from the other Systems and brought disintegration through the feelings of rebellion, pride, hate, doubt and fear—just like the well-known activ-

ity of the 'Trojan Horse'—from within out—the great perfection which had been established for so long began to recede here.

We have given you a great deal—yet you must have this information and knowledge if you are to move forward into greater light! IN THE NAME OF GOD—DEAR PEOPLE—AFTER YOU HAVE RECEIVED THIS INSTRUCTION—PLEASE USE IT!

For the kindness and courtesy of your attention and for your love, I thank you! Will you remember always, please, that PEACE IS A POSITIVE POWER! I—Who have passed the way of evolutions before you—"I AM" yours to command! I leave you with My blessings. May all your precipitations be perfect; your 'flowers' beautiful and all your God-endeavors successful in His Name! Thank you and good morning!"

APPENDIX

# Chapter VIII

# A Description of the Temple of Precipitation At Rocky Mountains, U. S. A.

By Thomas Printz

In the heart of the beautiful Teton Range. in the Wyoming Rocky Mountains, is the Ascended Master Temple of Precipitation, where, twice each year. The Great White Brotherhood and Their worthy chelas gather to discuss ways and means of forwarding the progress of the sweet Earth and Her attendant evolutions. If not in person, through pictures, many people have seen the outer face of the majestic Grand Teton, within Whose Heart, is the focus of the Precipitation Flame, Chinese Green in color, with an outer radiation of gold.

Because of the added interest in the activities of the Ascended Masters' Retreats, seven great ante-chambers have been builded around the Great Council Hall, wherein The Brothers and Sisters abide Who have volunteered to guide and guard this Flame of Conscious Precipitation of GOOD into the world of form.

Reverence for Life, in essence, besides being a deep feeling that proceeds from within the heart as to the Truth that all life is truly of God, goes further. It stirs within those, motivated by an impersonal desire to qualify life with a constructive vibration which will be sustained benefaction for all using the schoolroom of Earth in order to learn the lesson of consciously mastering energy.

Gold or, for that matter, any of the so-called material expressions of wealth, while necessary at this hour, are but



a small part of the art of Precipitation of Good. Many a 'rich man' suffers still from agonies of mind, soul, body and affairs. These, of course, are merely the results of his own destructive karma created in this embodiment or ages past.

Thus the WEALTH OF THE SPIRIT is the requirement of the hour, wherein and whereby trusted chelas can and will so purify themselves that, while they are also enabled to use the 'coin of the realm' when necessary, they can also magnetize, radiate and sustain the far more important God-gifts into the emotional, mental, etheric and physical strata wherein they are so much required to help to set imprisoned life everywhere free of all distresses of every kind and description.

In order for any man or woman to so prepare himself or herself to become a Precipitating Presence of Good, it must be understood that the wisdom of God has of a purpose withheld the release of the good of the Causal Body into their personal hands and use until all the causes and cores of greed, selfishness and glorification of the personality are removed from the four lower vehicles through which these natural gifts should flow.

One of the subtle tests given in the Temple of Precipitation is that of presenting to them something of specific material value. Then according to the reaction of such aspirants it is easily discernible as to whether the mystic teaching of the Law of Precipitation shall in truth begin. Many such a one seeking to receive these Beloved Ascended Master gifts are caught up in the enjoyment of such material possession, which of course shows in their aura. They are allowed to keep the gift, but the teaching—far more valuable—is withheld.

A Focus as old as the Rocky Mountain Retreat wherein mankind first took embodiment ages ago contains a tremendous reservoir and momentum of God-qualified energy. To humbly, gently and selflessly while under the direction of His Guru prepare Himself to hold this Focus of Light, allowing Lord Lanto greater freedom, was a feat of spiritual accomplishment on the part of Lord Confucius comparable to that of Lord Gautama to help His Lord, Sanat Kumara, to greater freedom to serve with His Own Star.

By His very nature Lord Confucius is reticent and retiring and it came upon Him as a rather great surprise that He was worthy to act as the new Hierarch of the Rocky Mountain Retreat. For this reason His Guru, Lord Lanto, has offered and does come upon all official occasions to assist Him until He builds into Himself more confidence in His Own God accepted ability.

Chelas upon the Spiritual Path will do well to take the humble and reverent attitude of Lord Confucius in their preparation to serve in a greater capacity for the benefaction of the race."

(Note: Beloved Sanat Kumara having been released to return to Venus, His planetary Home-The Great Beings Who have passed the "Initiation of Readiness" for greater service to Lifenow hold the following offices.

Lord of The World - Beloved Gautama
The Buddha - Lord Divino (Lord Maitreya)
World Teachers - Beloved Kuthumi and
Beloved Lanto

Chohan of the Second Ray - Beloved Confucius

# Chapter IX

# The Law of Precipitation Revealed

by The Ascended Master Paul, the Venetian - now- The Maha Chohan.

1. THE PERMANENT ATOM—is the nucleus—the cohesive power—around which the electronic substance is drawn to create the perfect physical form required.

Neither breathing nor walking, nor any other process of living can be accomplished in a haphazard manner—nor can the Laws that govern the Universe be applied by mere wishful thinking or wild ejaculations or incomplete application of Cosmic Principle.

Please get that straight.

2. THE ELECTRONIC LIGHT—The Universal substance unformed, is intelligent.

The Electronic Light to which We refer, that fills the Universe, contains within itself a central core of BLUE WHITE FLAME. This is the Universal Light Substance—unformed but intelligent.

3. THE CREATIVE POWER—The Godhead, the Threefold Flame.

The GODHEAD is the Creative Activity of Life—The Threefold Flame, the Triple Activity—The Father, Son and Holy Spirit. This is the ONLY Creative Power in the Universe.

PLEASE RE-STUDY the above paragraphs UNTIL you can differentiate between the CREATIVE POWER and

the LIGHT SUBSTANCE—which is the *Essence* that obeys and becomes the clothing of the Creative Flame.

4. THE THREEFOLD FLAME—The Fire of Creation, is as Powerful in the Heart of the man in the gutter, as in the Heart of the Great Central Sun.

The Great THREEFOLD FLAME may multiply Itself without limit and form points of consciousness anywhere in the Universe. Whether it is the Godhead direct (The Solar Logoi) or whether it is a Spark from the Godhead—the Mighty "I AM" Presence in the individual—makes no difference—the Fire of Creation is equally powerful whether It is in the Heart of the Great Central Sun or in the Heart of the man in the gutter.

# II

# THE ELECTRONS FROM THE PRESENCE CONTAIN THE FIRE OF CREATION

The electrons as they flow down the lifestream from the Mighty "I AM" Presence into the physical heart, contain within themselves the *Fire of Creation*, and each electron may become the nucleus or cause of whatever form the individual decrees into existence, thus, the electron may become the body of a child, the seed of a spiritual idea, the nucleus of a great international movement, the heart of a novel or a celestial symphony.

The electron which enters the heart and becomes part of the lifestream of a self-conscious intelligence may be consciously *projected* into the Electronic Substance and around that minute particle of the Fire of Creation the Universal substance is drawn.

Without the Permanent Atom the Universal Substance remains unformed. The Permanent Atom is the cohesive Power and the Divine Will that draws the Electronic Substance into form.

All creation is three-fold. Let Me show you the principle of creating that Permanent Atom.

THE ELECTRONIC LIGHT DESCENDS INTO THE HEART, AND ASCENDS THROUGH THE THROAT AND HEAD.

The Electronic Light descends through your lifestream into the heart, which is the CUP that receives the Light, and then, ACCORDING TO THE DIVINE PLAN, the Electrons ascend again through the throat into the head. (The sub-normal expression is when the Electronic Light descends below the heart and becomes sexual depravity).

When the Electronic Stream of Energy reaches the heart and begins again Its upward ascent, the inner eye can see that stream of Light pour downward and another ascend in such rapid succession that it looks like the shading of the same stream, but if you interpenetrate that stream of energy you will see that half is descending and half is ascending.

### III

FOUR STEPS NECESSARY TO CREATE THE PERMANENT ATOM OF YOUR DESIRE OR PLAN FIRST STEP:

Make your mental picture. Now — Important — You have made your mental picture of that which you wish to precipitate.

#### SECOND STEP:

Know and feel that the Fire of Creation flowing through you is ONE with that which created the Universe.

#### THIRD STEP:

Withdraw all power from the personality as the *doer*. You must absolutely withdraw all power from the *personality* as the doer.

#### FOURTH STEP:

From the THREE CENTERS—the HEART, the THROAT and the HEAD you consciously project a stream of Electronic substance into the mental picture.

#### RESULT:

The formation of the Permanent Atom of your picture. As they coalesce, they become the THREEFOLD FLAME—the PERMANENT ATOM—which draws the substance of the Universe around It and your precipitated form is completed.

#### IV

HOW TO PROJECT A STREAM OF ELECTRONIC SUBSTANCE FROM YOUR THREE CENTERS

#### FIRST:

The Pink Ray, the cohesive Power of Love. Let Me show you... From the heart the Electronic Substance flows in a Pink Ray, which is the cohesive power of LOVE which is the magnetic force that draws the BLUE LIGHT of the Electrons into form.

#### SECOND:

The Gold Ray, the mental picture outlined in Golden Light. From the head comes the GOLD RAY which is the mental picture of the Divine Will, which has projected the Divine Plan into a mould or matrix—thus your mental mould is usually outlined in Golden Light.

#### THIRD:

The BLUE RAY, the focus of Power. From the throat goes forth the BLUE RAY, which is the focus of Power, which gives to the precipitation its strength, endurance and ability to stand against the disintegrating powers of the outer world.

This is as simple of accomplishment as breathing, but it must be worked out in orderly succession."

# Chapter X

# Two Tables of Correspondences and a Brief Glossary

FIRST TABLE

Elohim	Feminine Counterpart	Ray	Color
Hercules	. Amazon	.1st .	Blue
Cassiopeia	.Minerva	. 2nd	. Sunshine Yellow
Orion	. Angelica	. 3rd	Pink
Purity (Claire)	. Astrea	. 4th	Crystal White
Vista (Cyclopea)	.Crystal	5th	Green
Peace (Tranquility)	.Pacifica	. 6th	Gold
Arcturus	. Diana	7th	Violet

## SECOND TABLE

Elohim	Activity	Corresponder Archangel	C/
Hercules	Decision	Michael	El Morya
Cassiopeia	Perception	Jophiel	Lanto*
	Cohesion		
Purity	Immaculate	Gabriel . S	Rowena
Vista	Concentration		
	Ministration		
	Invocation		
			Germain

\*Recently Lord Lanto became World Teacher with Beloved Kuthumi - Lord Confucius becoming Chohan of the Second Ray.

# BRIEF GLOSSARY

- Compound: A focus of destruction within the Earth atmosphere, where recalcitrant lifestreams group together.

  This has been dissolved by the Ascended Masters.
- Etherealization: The Science of returning to the Sun the wrongly qualified light essence to be re-polarized.
- Forcefield: A "field of force" of constructively qualified energy.
- Holy Christ-Self: It is the wholly perfect Christ-consciousness within the Immortal Three-fold Flame in the heart of the physical man. Jesus called It, "The Mediator between God and man."
- Karma: A Sanscrit word meaning the Law of Cause and Effect or the Law of the Circle. Good causes generate good effects, bad causes generate bad effects.
- Laggard: An individual who did not complete his evolution on his own planet and was graciously accepted by the Earth to endeaver to do so.
- Sleepers' Realm: A place for peace and rest for the inner bodies of the lifestreams. Now they are allowed here only three months. Previously they stayed indefinitely, retarding their evolution for the realization of the Divine Plan.
- Three-fold Flame: A Focus of God-perfection anchored within the physical heart, composed of Three Plumes

- of brilliant and always active colors: Blue (Power), Gold (Wisdom)—in the center—and Pink (Love).
- Tube of Light: A mantle of pure electronic Light essence, which may be drawn for protection around the four lower bodies at the call of the "I ΛM" Presence of the individual. This is the Λrmor of Light of which the Scriptures speak.
- Violet Flame: An activity of Mercy of the Sacred Fire to transmute wrongly qualified energy.

The last two activities are daily used by the Bridge to Freedom Students.